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16 Life of Oliver Evans.

many of my useful discoveries as I have been able to get into use; and my patents
would now have expired, and the public been in full posession of them—but they
lay dormant or are lost; I have abandoned them in disgust, deeming my talent
lost, for I am sixty-two years of age, and my time is wholly engrossed in law-suits,
having fifteen of the most eminent counsel engaged, to recover the small sums I
demand, and to defend myrights. And I believe there are hundreds if not thous-
ands of useful discoveries of others, dormant also, for want of the patronage which
would not cost the public a cent, nor monopolize or deprive any person of a single
right.”

On Sunday morning, April 11th 1819, the extensive buildings, occupied by
Evans, as a foundry and factory, on the Ridge Road, Philadelphia, were seton
fire, in a wanton, unprovoked and mischievous spirit, by a lad of about 20 years
of age. The loss, in mouldings alone, was estimated at $15,000. Doubtless, this
had something to do in hastening his death, for in one of the newspapers of the
day, published on the Saturday following the fire, we read, under the head of
““Deaths,”—‘“at New York, on Thursday, the 15th inst, at the house of Elijah
Ward, Oliver Evans, Esq., of Philadelphia, in the 64th year of his age. His re-
mains were interred yesterday afternoon.” He died, neglected and poor; adding
another witness to the words of Franklin,—‘“ A man’s useful inventions, subject
him to insult, robbery and abuse.” And, as a greater than Franklin has said,
‘“and herein is that saying true, one soweth, and another reapeth” * * *
‘‘other men labored, and ye are entered into their labors."”-——John 4: 37, 38.

Oliver Evans, was about 5 feet 8 inches in height, rather portly, but very ac-
tive. He was the first man that took possession of property at ¢ Bush Hill,” in
the northwestern part of the City of Philadelphia. From his foundry at Ridge
Road and Vine streets, were sent forth, a goodly number of prominent mechanics.

Few, if any, capital improvements have been introduced into the machinery
of Flour mills since his time, although numerous minor changes in the manufac-
ture and running of the stones, and in the bolting apparatus, have been patented
and adopted. His machinery is now in almost universal use in the extensive mer-
chant-mills of this country, and has been very generally adopted in Europe, and
particularly in Great Britain.

So great has been the influence of the high-pressure Steam Engine, and other
contrivances of Evans, so admirably adapted to the use of all kinds of factories
as to justify the eulogium of a talented writer, in an address before the American
Institute, in New York, in 1850 (S. G. Arnold, Esq.) who says, respecting their
inventor, ‘“ Wherever the steam mill resounds with the hum of industry, whether
grinding flour on his native Schuylkill, or cutting logs in Oregon” (and the same
might be said of the Steam Engine) ¢ there do you find a monument to the mem-
ory of

OLIVER EVANS.”
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THE FAULKLAND SPICE MILL

F OR the better part of a century, the millseat at Faulkland, Delaware, on

the Red Clay Creek, was the scene of one or another important manu-
factory. In 1785 Oliver Evans, the “American Watt,” made it the site of
his first automatic flour mill-—an innovation which soon became standard
over the United States and remained so for 100 years. Then, in 1828, Evans’
mill was converted into one for the manufacture of spices from all around
the world. This manufactory was the only one of its kind in the State of
Delaware and, for many years, the leading spice mill in the nation.

The interested traveller may view the site of the Fell spice mill by
turning north on Faulkland Road between the Lancaster Pike and Price’s
Corner. The road descends into the Red Clay valley, crossing the stream
over a modern bridge considerably less handsome than the one built in 1813
which is replaced. After passing the millsite, the road then climbs again to
the high land at Brandywine Springs.

Little is known about the early life of Oliver Evans. The years between
his birth on September 13, 1755, and his majority, are filled only with those
peculiar myths which cluster about the biographies of famous men. Stories
of little Oliver studying late into the night by the light of flickering wood
chips tells us more about Victorian virtue than an actual life. That he
received a good education we may be sure, and about 1771, when he was
16, he became apprenticed to a wheelwright, no doubt in his native village of
Newport, Delaware.!

Instead of pursuing the trade for which he was trained, Oliver Evans,
with his younger brother Joseph, moved to Nine Bridge, on the Eastern Shore
of Maryland, and opened a general store. His prospects were such that in
1783 he could marry Sarah Tomlinson, the daughter of a local farmer, but
already his real expectations lay in the direction of invention rather than
commerce. He was thinking seriously of several improvements in the manu-
facture of flour and had purchased in 1782, with his brothers John and
Theophilus, about 400 acres of land along Red Clay Creek from their father

Charles Evans.

Oliver Evans’ five separate inventions for the improved operation of flour
mills—the hopper boy, elevator, descender, conveyer, and drill—taken to-
gether, revolutionized the conduct of this ancient manufacture. The common
practice at that time was to carry a bag of grain to the second floor of a mill.
Here it was emptied into a hopper from which it fell through a chute into the
mill-stone hopper on the first floor. The freshly ground flour fell through
another chute into the cellar where it was collected in open tubs and hoisted

! Unless otherwise attributed, the following information on Oliver Evans is takep jr9m
Greville and Dorothy Bathe, Oliver Evans: A Chronicle of Early American Enginéering

(Philadelphia, 1935), passim.
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marble bed stone replaced the more familiar burr stone used in gristmills, and
the upper stone was replaced by six conical rollers. The marble bed stone
was then heated to about 130° F. so that the beans could be reduced to a
viscous paste. When the beans were sufficiently ground, sugar and vanilla
were added and incorporated to sweeten and flavor the chocolate. After
grinding, and while still thin enough to run, the chocolate was poured into
molds and allowed to harden.® The recipe and type of machinery used by
Fell to make chocolate are not recorded, but were no doubt quite similar
to that just described.

As his spice business flourished, Jonathan Fell broadened his interests to
include a wide range of philanthropic and commercial activities. At one time
or another, for example, he was president of both the Philadelphia Society for
the Establishment and Support of Charity Schools and the Lehigh Coal and
Navigation Company.” TFell is sometimes credited with being the first to
burn anthracite coal in a parlor grate.® This honor, however, is more usually
given to Jesse Fell, a nail maker of Wilkes-Barre who developed such a device
in 1808 Even without this particular discovery to his credit, the death of
Jonathan Fell on July 15, 1829, closed a career of unusual public and private
service.”

With the death of the father, the spice business, including both the Phila-
delphia establishment and the newly acquired mill on the Red Clay, was
taken over by the sons of Jonathan. Courtland J. Fell, being the oldest, gave
his name to the firm which until its dissolution late in the century was known
as C. J. Fell & Brother. The firm was operated as a partnership and ground
spices were sent, by 1832, to “most of the sea-ports of the United States.”
The water-powered mill on the Red Clay, valued that year at $12,000,
employed three men, two girls, and “one child,” who worked by the hundred
weight.”

The amount and variety of spices produced was quite large, being refined,
in 1832, from 100,000 pounds of cocoa, 800 bushels of mustard seed, 200,000
pounds of race ginger, 50,000 pounds of black pepper, 5,000 pounds of cassia,
and 1,000 pounds of other spices.” A large part of these raw materials, of
course, were necessarily imported, but the mill also advertised locally for
barley, indicating that this grain was also among its products.”

Another American product consistently encouraged by the Fells was
mustard seed. From the time he first took over Dixon’s business, Jonathan

uh Andrew Ure, 4 Dictionary of Arts, Manufactures, and Mines . . . (New York, 1845),
T, 299-300.

5 National Gazette (Philadelphia), July 16, 1829; United States Gazette (Philadelphia),
January 2, 1826.

. Ritter, p. 174.

7 Brederick M. Binder, “Anthracite Enters the American Home,” Pennsylvania Magazine
of History and Biography, LXXXII (1958), 86. Binder suggests that Jesse Fell may
have been anticipated by Oliver Evans.

s philadelphia Gazette, July 16, 1829.

¥ Documents Relative to the Manufactures in the United States [McLane Report] . . .
(Washington, D.C., 1833), II, 715-716.

*_ Ibid.

2 Delaware State Journal (Wilmington), March 20, 1835.

10

Fell had advertised that “farmers desirous of growing Mustard, can be fur-
nished with seed of a superior kind by applying as above, and also find a
ready market for any they may have to sell.”” By 1844, most mustard seed
was still imported from England, but C. J. Fell & Brother were sanguine in
their hope for a larger domestic supply.

On receiving a delivery of 382 bushels of brown mustard seed from J. H.
Parmelee of Zanesville, Ohio, the Fells referred to the notorious English
Corn Laws then under attack in Parliament, predicting that “the time is not
far distant, if not already at hand, when the interests of the American farmers
will be best promoted by devoting a portion of their time and land to the
raising of many crops which are now imported from countries refusing (except
when their own crops fail) the surplus of the American farms, and thus not
only raise the prices of their grain crops by diminishing their quantity, but
secure to themselves a large amount of money which is annually sent out of
the country to purchase these crops.”™

In answer to charges that the market for mustard seed could be easily
glutted, the Fells admitted that “if its culture is gone into with a ‘multicaulis’
energy, the demand for the manufacture at the present ‘infant state’ will not
be equal to the supply; but if,” they added, “on the contrary, the farmers
move with their usual caution and prudence, and sow each but a few acres,
we think there is no fear of overstocking the market.” A growing market was
assured, they claimed, because “the manufacture of mustard in this country
is yet in its infancy, and has only been undertaken on a large scale since the
passage of the tariff [in August 1842], giving a protection of 30 per cent.
In these two years, such improvements have been made in machinery, and
such knowledge obtained, as has enabled the manufacturers to produce an
article which commands a preference over any heretofore imported . . .7

The death of Courtland J. Fell in 1848 left the family spice business in
the hands of Franklin Fell, his younger brother. The latter was born on
May 25, 1814, in a house on Front Street in Philadelphia just a few doors
away from his father’s new business. He received a liberal education and at
17, two years after the death of his father, he began his commercial career
as the youngest boy in the store of Shober, Bunting & Co., dealers in fish
and oils.” Within 18 months, in recognition of his “faithful labors,” he rose
to be chief bookkeeper and confidential clerk. The death of Thomas Jenks
Fell, junior partner in C. J. Fell & Brother, in 1836, made it desirable that
Franklin enter the family business to help his brother Courtland, who then
moved to the Red Clay to give personal supervision to the spice manufactory.

Franklin Fell, now in full charge of the Philadelphia store and warehouse,
seems to have inherited his father’s desire for wider business and philanthropic

*# Aurora, August 15, 1810.

2 Yetter of September 28, 1844, from C. J. Fell & Bro., in Report of the Commissioner
of Patents, For the year 1844 (28th Cong., 2d sess.), House Doc. No. 75, p. 327. The
Corn Laws, which severely restricted the export of grain to England, were repealed
in 1846.

# Letter of October 21, 1844, from C. J. Fell & Bro., in ibid., pp. 327-328.

* This sketch of Franklin Fell’s early years is taken from an extensive obituary mnotice
appearing in the Philadelphia Commercial List and Price Current (supplement edition),
Qctober 2, 1875.
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interests. Besides serving as president of the Seaman’s Saving Fund Society,
of Philadelphia, he was president for several years of the Buck Mountain
Coal Co.” Stock in this company, along with some “wild lands in the anthra-
cite region,” came to the spice firm when a debtor failed, and Franklin Fell
became an expert, as had his father, in “every branch of the mining and
selling of coal.” In another venture Fell, with a group of associates, engaged
in real estate development in the city of Philadelphia, cutting up an old
estate on the west side of town into handsome residential units.”

When Courtland J. Fell died in 1848, Franklin became the sole partner in
the spice business. Dividing his time between Faulkland and Philadelphia,
he continued his varied interests in both places and, at the battle of Gettys-
burg, travelled to that tragic battlefield to volunteer his services to the
wounded and dying. He was deeply involved in the affairs of the Episcopal
church in Delaware, founding and teaching a Sunday School in his Faulkland
home. After his retirement, Fell suspended these many interests long enough
to travel extensively throughout the West Indies, the British Isles, and
Europe.”

Under the direction of Franklin Fell from 1848 to 1867, the spice business
grew even farther from its origin as a combination shop and single-horse mill
on Front Street. A steam engine appears to have replaced the faithful horse
at the Philadelphia mill, and by 1857 the Red Clay mill was running nine
pairs of stones to grind the various products of the company. By this date also
the firm was making hominy, said to be “so prepared by a new process, that it
resists the effects of any climate and keeps sweet and good for years.”” They
also appear to have begun the roasting of coffee at about this same time.”

An 1864 price list of the firm states the availability of coffee, chocolate,
cocoa, ginger, pepper, cassia, allspice, cloves, brown and yellow mustard, rice
flour, barley, hominy, cream tartar, bicarb. soda, sal-AEratus, indigo, split
peas, caraway seeds, and mustard seeds. “The manufactured goods,” the list
asserted, “in packages [are| unsurpassed in beauty and variety of style.”™
The packaging was aided, as early as 1857, by a remarkable machine “pro-
pelled by steam, which weighs accurately, and packs the Spices neatly in
bundles. Its ingenuity and speed,” an observer marveled, “are remarkable.”*

% Delaware Gagette, July 21, 1857,

*" Philadelphia Commercial List (supp.), October 2, 1875.

® Ibid. Courtland J. Fell likewise had a wide range of interests, serving at one time as
president of the Irving Literary Society of Delaware. Delaware State Journal, January
3, 1862.

* Edwin L. Freedley, Philadelphia and its Manufactures . . . in 1857 (Philadelphia, 1858),
p. 269. A new kiln for drying the corn for heminy was erected in 1858. Delaware
Gazette, September 21, 1858. The “single-horse” mill referred to would be one in
which a horse, harnessed to the axle of the mill, walked slowly in circles turning the
machinery. Such horse mills, being severely limited in the amount of power they
could produce, were used irstead of water power only in situations where the latter
was not available. Until the advent of steam engines, herse and hand power were the
only types available in cities.

% Boyd’s Delaware State Directory 1859-60, p. 210.

“ Among C. J. Fell & Bro. papers in possession of Mrs. Eldred B. Hoiriis, of Faulkland,
Delaware.

* Freedley, pp. 269-270.

A reporter for the American Grocer visited the Fell warehouse in Phila-
delphia late in 1872 and gained some information on the way in which the
firm did business. “Introducing himself, the reporter modestly asked to be
shown the modus operandi of preparing spices for the trade. This was, in
part, impossible, as the reporter found that the mills where the spices are
ground were located at Brandywine Springs, near Wilmington, Delaware.
Also part of the packing in cans and labelling is done there. The balance is
brought in casks to the Philadelphia house, where it undergoes the same
operation and is ready for sale. The speciality of this house is pure spices.

“Whatever goes out with their trade-mark under their name is guaranteed
to be in all respects pure and unadulterated. To meet a demand of the trade
for lower-priced goods, different grades are made, but in no case are they
ever allowed to bear the name of the firm, that being a guarantee of the
purity of the contents of any package of spices upon which it is found. To
those knowing the house, nothing need be said about their way of doing
business. Others, if such there be, may be interested. A stranger steps in
and asks the price, say of pure pepper? Do you want pure pepper? is
asked, and a price list is handed him. Why, I never paid more than —
mentioning a sum less than the cost of pepper before it is ground. The
matter is explained to him and the best pepper is offered him that can be had
for the price he is willing to pay. Upon this principle the business is con-
ducted. If a merchant wants pure goods and is willing to pay a fair price for
them, he can get them. If lower-priced goods are wanted they will be fur-
nished him_ the best that can be had for the money, but they will not be put
up under the name of C. J. Fell and Brother over their trade-mark.

“Packages of their goods are all full net weight, except glass, which are
of standard sizes. For hot climates and long voyages, glass packages are
always recommended. Space will not permit the telling of half that was seen;
the quantities of crude goods; the immense casks of ground spices of all
kinds; ginger root imported from Borneo by themselves and of which they
have the monopoly; nutmegs eighty to the pound; and much that was new
and interesting to the reporter and would be to the trade if space would
permit it all to be told. As an instance of what this house turns out, one
order, seen by the reporter upon their books, called for 7,500 pounds of
ground cassia, 3,000 lbs. ground cloves, 2,100 pounds ground nutmegs, and
1,500 pounds ground allspice; 14,100 pounds ground spices in one order.

“The frm are also sole agents for Fox’s Philadelphia starch, of which
large quantities are handled, and also are sole agents for the United States
for Nelson’s gelatine, an article claimed to be superior to any other, either
imported or domestic, for the purpose for which it is used.””

Franklin Fell retired from mercantile life in 1867, turning the direction
of the firm over to his son, William Jenkes Fell, and nephew Joseph E.
Taylor.* That same year the first of a series of disasters struck at the very
heart of the enterprise, the grinding mill on Red Clay creek. About 5 o’clock
on a Monday evening, September 9, 1867, a small fire was discovered near
one of the sets of French burr stones, probably caused by a nail having

* Every Evening (Wilmington), October 25, 1872,
3 Philadelphia Commercial List (supp.), October 2, 1875.
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biographical sketch” of Oliver Evans.” The opening of a post office at Faulk-
land a month later, on November 22, 1872, further improved the business
facilities of the spice mill.” The Faulkland mill had less than two years to
enjoy these new advantages before another disaster struck, this one fatal to
the whole enterprise.

At one o’clock in the morning of March 17, 1874, fire was again dis-
covered in the main spice mill. As before, it spread with such rapidity that
efforts were concentrated on saving the out buildings. Speculation attributed
the fire to either spontaneous combustion or an overturned stove in the mill
office, but the point was never settled with certainty.” By late afternoon
the mill was still burning and the Fells sent into Wilmington for a steam-
powered fire wagon. A Delaware steamer was sent out at about 5:30 in the
afternoon but, when only a mile and a half from the mill, became bogged
down in mud. It took until nearly midnight to dig the engine out, so it
returned to town along with several fire hoses lent by the Water Witch
Company.*

The loss from this second fire was figured at $33,000, of which all but
$5,000 was covered by insurance.” By the beginning of April the rubbish
was removed from the burnt mill, and the turbine wheels removed to “the
adjoining building” where “the spices and mustard mill will be running by
the 10th of May.”" It was announced in August that the large mill was to
be rebuilt, but notice was taken of the fact that ‘“the matter of paying the
insurance money is yet to be settled.”*

The crowning calamity was only a year away. On July 10, 1875,
Franklin Fell died. His only son, William Jenks Fell, inherited not only his
father’s fortune, estimated initially at $100,000, but also a firm that had
little chance of survival.” Early the following year Fell offered for sale or
rent a ‘“large stone building in the village of Newport, with steam engine,
boiler, shafting and large lot. . . . The property,” he promised, “is well
suited for a large manufacturing enterprise.”™ This building, known as the
Franklin Mills, had been used for years by C. J. Fell & Brother to grind
their own brand of self-raising flour.” At the same time he advertised, for
rent only, “a second power grist and merchant flour mill; machinery all new
and of most approved description” at Faulkland.” This was no doubt the
same secondary mill pressed into service after the fire of 1874.

There can be no doubt that the fires of 1867 and 1874 severely under-

* Every Evening, October 21, 1872.

* Harvey Cochran Bounds, A Postal History of Delaware (Newark, 1938), p. 95.

* Every Evening, March 17, 1874.

* Ibid., March 18, 1874.

* Ibid., March 21, 1874.

‘7 Ibid., April 2, 1874.

8 Ibid., August 31, 1874.

“ Ibid., August 25, 1875.

® Ibid., January 15, 1876.

3 Wilmington Daily Commercial, December 23, 1869. Using this flour, bread could be
made without yeast, thus preserving “the nutritious qualities of the grain” and allowing
dyspeptics to use it when freshly baked.

°* Every Evening, January 15, 1876.

16

mined the position of C. J. Fell & Brother. The estate of Franklin Fell
became a source of both bitter contention and considerable confusion between
William Jenks Fell, the origina. trustee, and a Philadelphia trust company.
The combination of situations conspired, early in 1878, to force C. J. Fell
& Brother to suspend. Fell and Taylor explained to a meeting of creditors
that the total liabilities of the firm amounted to only $173,112, while its
assets came to $228,096. A committee of creditors took these figures under
advisement but one of their number, with a claim of $600, “sued out a
warrant before Magistrate Smith,” charging Fell and Taylor with “conspiring
to cheat and defraud.” Constable Trefts was waiting after the creditors’
meeting and both members of the firm suffered the humiliation of arrest
upon adjournment.” The creditors met again the following month and
decided to dissolve the firm.”

The spice mill on the Red Clay was leased to J. M. Purvis & Co., of
Philadelphia, who soon had reason to regret their action. On October 30,
1878, the mill was for the third time utterly destroyed by fire. The flames,
it was reported, had “every advantage” and the site of the mill presented
“nothing but a mass of ruins.” The mill had cost $50,000 four years before
and, perhaps indicating that its periodic burnings were becoming notorious,
insurance had been written in small amounts by 12 different companies
located in France, Scotland, England, and Canada, as well as in Delaware,
Pennsylvania, Connecticut, and New Jersey. The press suggested that the
fire might have been “the work of an incendiary,” but it was also charged
that the Purvis company had been negligent in attending to a small fire
discovered the previous afternoon in a set of stones grinding cassia.”

This fiery end to the history of spice milling on the Red Clay did not
lift the incubus of failure from the shoulders of William Jenks Fell. The
Pennsylvania Supreme Court ruled in 1882 that he must pay rent to the
assignees of C. J. Fell & Brother for the three pieces of commercial property
that remained to him from the old firm: a store at 120 South Fourth Street
in Philadelphia, the Franklin Mills at Newport, and the small gristmill at
Faulkland. Rent on all three was in arrears.” In 1884 an attempt was
made to “RENT. — THE GRIST MILL WITH ALL the water power at
Faulkland, with quite a large custom: also the house and stabling for two
horses, also two houses and yards, one with garden and stable.”™

As late as 1894, however, the Delaware State Directory carried the
listing: “Faulkland: Fell, W. J., flour mill.”® Thus after more than a cen-
tury of continuous use the Faulkland millsite was once again what it had

* Ibid., February 11, 1878. The two were released on bond and ordered to stand trial.
The facts of the case, as reported in the press, make it clear that Taylor was alleged
to have cashed a check which he knew to be worthless, on the account of the firm.
Fell, as an associate in the firm, was also held accountable. Ibid., February 12, 1878.

5 Ibid., March 4, 1878.

% Ibid., October 30, 1878; memo dated February 13, 1879, in C. J. Fell & Bro. waste
book no. 18, pp. 26-27, in possession of Mrs. Hoiriis.

% Every Evening, May 9, 1882.

5" Ibid., February 15, 1884.

* Delaware State Directory for 1894-95, p. 116.
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been when Oliver Evans came to the Red Clay—the scene of gristmilling for
local custom.

The demise of the Fell spice manufactory antedated by only a few years
a remarkable rise in the consumption of spices in the United States. Previous
to 1883 there had been some modest tariff on unground spices entering
the country, but it amounted to only about five cents a pound on such
staples as pepper and cloves. When unground spices were added to the free
list in that year, however, domestic consumption (assumed from import
figures) began to rise sharply. Pepper for example went from 6,973,000
pounds in 1883 to 12,712,000 just five years later.”

With this growing market for spices, it is not difficult to imagine that the
fate of C. J. Fell & Brother might have been different, The firm’s downfall
was brought about by a number of circumstances among which the three
fires were no doubt the most damaging. Another factor must surely have
been the relative isolation of the Red Clay Creek from the main arteries of
commerce. Philadelphia had always been the real home of the enterprise
as well as of many of the personal and other business interests of the family.
And one cannot but notice that, although C. J. Fell & Brothers Company
was incorporated by the State of Delaware in 1871, it remained to the end
a family business.” Jonathan Fell had given four sons to the enterprise
while Franklin Fell had only one. It is no discredit to William Jenks Fell
that the burden proved too great.

® David A. Wells, Recent Economic Changes (New York, 1896), pp. 384-385.
® Laws of Delaware, X1V, 299.
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FELL HISTORIC DISTRICT DESCRIPTION: JUSTIFICATION OF BOUNDARIES

The boundaries of the Fell Historic District were drawn to include the structures
built and owned by four generations of the Fell family; New Fell's Lane, which leads
to the Mansion from Faulkland Road; and the area that encompasses the location of the
now defunct "Old" Fell's Lane, the original access route to the Mansion. The narrow
strip of vacant land between these two lanes, overgrown with trees and bushes and
acting as a natural buffer between the Mansion and the Barn, is also included within
the boundaries of the District. Under single ownership until the 1970's, the District
today is still a cohesive unit, but with seven different landowners. As much as
possible, the boundaries follow existing property lines. The few modern dwellings
that lie in the immediate vicinity of the District are visually -unobtrusive due to
the screen of trees within and adjacent to the District. Originally part of the Fell
Estate, the land surrounding the District has been developed as suburban housing units
to the east and west, as a golf course to the north, and as State parkland to the south.
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FELL HISTORIC DISTRICT DESCRIPTION: INVENTORY OF BUILDINGS

2. The Carriage House (2321 Fell's Lane)

Southwest of the mansion, William Jenks Fell built a carriage house in 189/

T-shaped in plan and constructed of uncoursed, roughly-finished granite, this two-
story Romanesque Revival structure housed not only carriages but the attendant and
his family as well. Meticulous in detail, the carriage house boasts such elements
as a square cupola with corner pilasters and molded round-arched louvered panels
situated at the roof crossing, round-arched windows with rock-faced ashlar
voussoirs, trefoil mullions, and some of the original stained glass. Gable aprons
with a large circular motif adorn the three end walls.

Stories are told of how William Jenks Fell, every night during the construction
of this building, measirred each course of stone laid during the day to make certain
the work was completed to his satisfaction.

During the 1950's, Mrs. Eldred B. Hoiriis, granddaughter of William Jenks
Fell, converted the carriage house into a private residence, and then sold the
structure. Retaining the original mass and fabric, modifying the exterior only
slightly through the addition of dormers and the enclosing of the carriage door
with a large picture window, the essential integrity of the original carriage
house has been preserved and has not been seriously compromised.
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FELL HISTORIC DISTRICT DESCRIPTION: INVENTORY OF BUILDINGS
3. The Gate House (3101 Faulkland Road)

The Gate House is so-called because it is situated at the entrance to
Fell's Lane which was constructed when automobiles replaced carriages. Facing
Faulkland Road near the crest of the hill that leads down to Red Clay Creek, this
Carpenter Gothic dwelling was built sometime prior to 1871. Its appearance today

is exactly as described in an application for insurance to the Mutual Insurance
Company by Franklin Fell in iSjl.

Built into the hillside on a one-story stone foiondation, the Gate House is
a one and one.-rhalf story frame structure sheathed with weatherboard siding. Its
three-bay, center door facade has a one-bay flat-roofed porch supported by Doric
posts. The gable roof is pierced by two gable, wall dormers on the facade, while
on the rear elevation the upper story is lit by two small eyebrow windows.
Attached to the rear of the structure is a one-story board and batten shed,
described in the insurance application as a kitchen and used today for the smae
purpose.

Used by the Fell family as a tenant house., this dwelling was rented either
on a year's lease or for the summer months to visitors vacationing at the nearby
Brandywine Springs.
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Built to resemble a Swiss chalet, this picturesque frame structure, built
along and overlooking Faulkland Road as it gently descends toward Red Clay Creek,
is said to have been built by William Jenks Fell upon his return from a European
trip in the 1860°’s. The dwelling is described in an application for insurance by
Franklin Fell in 1871. It, too, has not changed from its description of over one
hundred years ago. This two and one-half story building is rectangular in plan
and rests on a one-story stone foxmdation. A central cross gable balances
identical right and left sides with matching verandahs, covered balconies and
porches, and an outside staircase. Unique in design with a perfect balance of
textures, open against closed spaces, and repetition of shapes, there is a unity

within the variety.

As with the Gate House, this Swiss-style dwelling was always used by the

Fell family as a tenant house.
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FELL HISTORIC DISTRICT DESCRIPTION: INVENTORY OF BUILDINGS
5. Tenant House (3010 Faulkland Road)

Adjacent to the Swiss-style house and descending the hill with an orientation
toward Red Clay Creek, is the third tenant house. This house also appears on the
1871 application for insurance, however, the description of it differs from the
appearance of the house today.

This tenant house began as a two-story frame house on a one-story stone
foundation. Added to the back of the house, probably close to the turn of the
century is a two-story, one-bay ell, containing a sunken living room with a
projecting bay window surmounted by stained glass. The one-bay, wooden front
porch seems to have been added the same time as the ell. On the interior, the
open staircase leading to the second floor has a most unusual wooden baluster
of a trefoil cut-out design. This same motif is used on the stairway leading
down into the sunken living room. During the twentieth century, a one-car
garage was added to the west endwalllL.
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FELL HISTORIC DISTRICT DESCRIPTION: INVENTORY OF BUILDINGS
6. The Stone Barn (3007 Faiilkland Road)

Situated on the opposite side of Faulkland Road from the two tenant houses is
the stone harn. It is a massive, fieldstOne structure with large structviral guoins.
This structure appears on the 1816 assessment list for Mill Creek Hundred as owned
hy William Faulk. Rented out to tenant farmers throughout the nineteenth and early
twentieth centuries, the harn was converted into a residence hy Mrs. Eldred B.
Hoiriis, granddaughter of William Jenks Fell, during the 1950's. Today, the 4
original central entranceway to the bank-type barn has been utilized as the
entrance to this private residence and three gable dormers have been added to the
gable roof. The interior utilizes the original beams and flooring.

IH 4
These minimal changes have not compromised the original integrity of the barn, iV
which retains its distinctive mass and fabric.
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FELL HISTORIC DISTRICT DESCRIPTION: INVENTORY OF BUILDINGS
7. The Miller/Farmer’s Residence (3001 Faiilhland Road)

The miller/farmer’s house is located near the site of the Faulkland Spice Mill.
Built into the hillside near the hanks of Red Clay Creek, this unpretentious
stuccoed stone, two and one-half story dwelling is the earliest structure in the

District, dating from the temire of the Faiilks. Known to the Fell family as the
farm house, and utilized hy the tenant farmer, this structure is listed in the 1803

assessment list for Mill Creek Hundred as an "\mfinished stone dwelling" on
William Faulk's property. At some point during either Courtland J. or Franklin
Fell's ownership, this house was converted into a double-dwelling and given a
cross-gabled roof. The structure was partially damaged by fire in 1878, and an
agreement containing the plans and specifications for the rebuilding of this
dwelling was found among the Fell papers.

Dxiring the 1970's, Delano Boynton, grandson of William Jenks Fell, moved into
this structure and converted it back to a single dwelling.

By replacing the separate entrances with a double window and placing the new
entrance on the right side, the house was returned to its original function as a
one-family dwelling with minimal loss of integrity.
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Although the actual mill huilding is no longer in existence, the group of buildings
that comprise this district supported the mill and represent the continuous use of
this land as a mill site from circa 1780 to the 1890's. Due to its hilly terrain and
momerous streams, northern New Castle County proved to be a suitable area for the
erection of mills at an early date. By I804. Mill Creek Hundred, the h3 square mile
political unit in which the Fell historic district is located, contained 23 mills
within its boundaries. The majority of these were saw and/or grist mills. William
Faulk's grist and saw mill, the property that was purchased by Jonathan Fell in 1829,
is included in this count.

Eighteenth century mill operations in New Castle County tended to be small-
scale, family-run industries with the family living on the site. Some recognized

examples of nearby mills contemporary with Faulk's facility are the Greenbank Mill
(N-191, NR 1973), the Graves Mill historic district (N-5005, NR 1979), and the

John England Mill (N-248, NR 1972). As with the Faulk Mill, these three operations
were composed of a relatively small mill building, the owner's house and sometimes

a bam and a tenant house. Trends in nineteenth century mill development followed
two different routes. Many mills, such as the ones mentioned above, remained small

in scale, but were improved by more complex mill machinery. Several mills, howeirer,
expanded into factory complexes, simxaltaneously developing a community around the
industry in the form of worker's housing. This type of factory-scale mill can be

seen in the-Auburn Mills (N-5003, NR 1980) and the Garrett Snuff Mill (N-4098, NR 1978),
both ordered industrial communities. In the context of these neighboring mills

the Fell Spice Mill was one that remained relatively small-scale during the nineteenth
centirry, functioning under the direction of a single family. The arrangement of
buildings within the Fell historic district is typical of mill site arrangement in
the county, as well. Partly due to the nature of the terrain and partly: due to

status and tradition, the mill owner's house is usually situated on a hill overlooking
the mill activities and tenant houses below.

As a small-scale mill operation the Fell historic district is typical of many
nineteenth century mill sites in New Castle Covinty, however, the district is also
guite unique to this area in the sophistication of its building styles and the
architectural diversity of its domestic compound. Nowhere else in the bounty
can there be found such an eclectric grouping of formal architect;iral styles in a
rural industrial setting. In addition, one building in the group, the "Swiss
Chalet" style tenant house, is unique in the state.

This deliberate choice of formal architectural styles may be the result of
the Fell family being based in Philadelphia where there was a greater awareness of
architectxiral fashion, as well as the Fells' travels both in this country and abroad.
Typically, nineteenth century rural buildings in Delaware tend toward vernacular
versions of Greek Revival and Italinate styles. Perhaps another reason that building
styles were chosen so carefully by the Fells is that this property functioned as
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their estate as well as an industrial site. Since the spice mill at Faulkland
was only one branch of the family's business concerns, this property in a sense,
served as a country home away from Philadelphia and a showplace to greet visitors
and family. It was not mtil late in the nineteenth century that this concept
of a formal estate as part of a family's industrial concerns was picked up in
neighboring mills, when the Israel Marshall House (H-5003, NR 1980) was built in
1897 at the Auburn Mills.

Attracted to the Faulkland area after a visit to the Chalybeate waters at
Brandywine Springs, Jonathan Fell, founder and proprieter of a spice manufacturing
facility in Philadelphia, purchased a mill site on Red Clay Creek from John Faulk
in 1828. Although Faulk's name has been perpetuated by the name of both the road
and the site, it was the Fell family who made the area well-known, and developed it
into their family "compound.”

After the death of Jonathan Fell in 1829, his son Courtland J. moved from
Philadelphia to Faulkland to manage the newly acquired mill and made Faulkland his
permanent residence. The Greek Revival mansion that he built reflects the architectural
style currently in fashion in Philadelphia. Beloved by every generation of Fells as
well as their relatives and friends, the beauty and serenity of the mansion and its

surroundings were often mentioned in correspondence. The death of Courtland J. Fell
in 1848 left the family business in the hands of Franklin, his younger brother, under

whose direction (i848-186t) the spice business grew. The simple merchant mill was
enlarged and improved with new machinery. It used a steam engine and water power
equal to one hundred horses and was brought to world-wide prominence”™ The mill was
used primarily for the manufacture of mustard, cocoa, the grinding of spices, and the
making of hominy. Adhering to their motto, never sell an article otherwise than
represented, the Fells gained the confidence of the public and earned a fortune

for themselves.

Inheriting his father's desire for wider business interests, Franklin branched
out into real estate development and mining and selling of coal in the anthracite
region of Pennsylvania. Reflecting his interests in real estate is his building
of at least two of the three tenant houses at Faulkland. Leases found among the
Fell papers indicate that these rentals were on a yearly basis as well as for summer
only.

Turning the direction of the firm over to his son, William Jenks Fell, in 1867,
Franklin Fell retired from the mercantile life and settled permanently at Faulkland.
That same year the first of a series of disasters struck—the mill was destroyed by
fire. Not only did the fire weaken the financial position of the Faulkland Spice
Company, but it also destroyed the original eighteenth century mill.
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Within two years, the old spice mill was replaced by a new and larger one, but
this too was destroyed by a second fire in 187”~. The crowning calamity came a year
later when on Jiily 10, 1875, Franklin Fell died. His only son, William Jenks Fell,
inherited his father's fortune (estimated at $100,000) and a firm that had little
chance of survival. After having been rebuilt and rented out, the spice mill was
totally destroyed by a fire in 1878. This fire terminated the spice manufacturing
business on Red Clay Creek.

William Jenks Fell continued to utilize the site for milling activities. Listed
in the Delaware State Directory in 1894 was the notation: Faulkland, Fell, W. J. Flour
Mill. It is ironic that after a century of continuous use the Faulkland mill site
became what it had been originally, a grist mill. Residing at Faulkland until his
wife's untimely death in 1881, William Jenks Fell thereafter divided his time between
Philadelphia and Faulkland, building some nine years before his death (1894) the
Romanesque Revival carriage house located near the mansion.

Having nearly exhausted the family fortune, William Jenks Fell at his death in
1903 left the Faulkland estate to his granddaughter, Harriet Fell Fixlton. Feeling
that he and the Fell family had been disgraced by his diiaghter, Elizebeth Fell
Boynton, who had divorced her first husband to marry another man, he disinherited
her and left the estate to his granddaughter. Borrowing money in order to buy the
estate from her daughter, Elizabeth (Elsie) Fell Boynton made the mansion her home
mtil her death in 194o0.

Today, the Faulkland mansion and the miller/farmers residence are still retained
by descendents of the Fell family, and even though new owners have acquired the
remaining six buildings that comprise the domestic core of the Fell estate, these
properties as a group represent the impact of nearly a century of building activity
under one family.

Level of Significance

The district is of local significance, even though the property has unusual
architectiaraJ. features which make it of interest to the architectural and social history
of the state. Architecturally this district is totally \mique to Mill Creek Hundred
and New Castle County. Seen as a whole, the district embodies unusual and distinctive
examples of architectural styles and survives intact as an example of a nineteenth
century gentleman's estate with its collection of buildings whose fimctions express
status.
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The western boundary of the Fell Historic District begins at the western corner of
the intersection of Faulkland Road and New Fell's Lane. From this point it runs 220
feet southwest along the northern edge of Faulkland Road. It then traces an imaginary
straight line that runs 450 feet northeast to a point where it meets the western edge
of Parcel I18. From there it continues in a northeasterly direction 430 feet along the
northwestern edge of Parcel 18. The boundary then proceeds northwest 320 feet along
the southwestern border of Parcel 2. It then travels northeast 70 feet along the

northwest edge of Parcel 2. The remainder of the northwestern boundary of the District
proceeds 223 feet northeast along the northwest edge of Parcel 11, and 201.36 feet along

Parcel 2, then continues in a straight line 375.64 feet northeast into Parcel 1. The
boundary line then turns 90 degrees toward the south and rims 365 feet in a south-
easterly direction. From that point, the boundary travels 300 feet southwest along the
treeline that defines the front yard space of the Georgian Revival House. It then runs
30 feet southeast along the northeast edge of Parcel 2 and 430 feet southwest along the
southeast edge of the same parcel. The line then continues 350 feet southeast along the
northeast edge of Parcel 5 and then runs 20 feet west and 25 feet south avoiding the
Faiakland Road bridge that crosses Red Clay Creek. The boundary continues 310 feet
west along the northern edge of Faulkland Road, then travels 130 feet south along the
eastern edge of Parcel 17. It then runs 420 feet west along the southern edges of
Parcel 17 and Parcel 7. The boundary line then turns and runs 155 feet northwest along
the southwest edge of Parcel 7 to the point of origin. These boiuidaries enclose an
area of approximately 16 acres. The parcels referred to in these boundaries are those
that appear on the 1982 New Castle County Property Tax Maps designated by the number
08-33.00.
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STATE OF DELAWARE
DEPARTMENT OF STATE

DIVISION OF HISTORICAL AND CULTURAL AFFAIRS
OLD STATE HOUSE = THE GREEN = DOVER = 19901

BUREAU OF ARCHAEOLOGY AND (302) 736-5685
HISTORIC PRESERVATION

April 28, 1983

Carol Shull

Chief of Registration

National Register of Historic Places Branch
Interagency Resource Management Division
National Park Service

Department of the Interior

Washington, D.C. 20240

Dear Ms. Shull:

Enclosed are the forms needed to nominate the Delaware Industrial School for
Girls, Fell Historic District, Kaumagraph Building, Lore School and the New
Century Club of Wilmington to the National Register of Historic Places.

IT you have any questions, please contact Stephen G. Del Sordo of my staff.

Sincerely yours.

Daniel R. Griffith, 'Deputy
State Historic Preservation Officer

Enclosure

MAY 1 81983






The existence of an important mill site along the Red Clay Creek at Faulkland Road is not
currently identified even though it existed from the late 1700s and was the location of the
first automated flour milling operation in the world invented by Oliver Evans native of

P Delaware. The mil  as subsequently iam Fi ~ the
Fell Family a Quaker family from Philadelphia which converted the mill to the grinding of
spices, chocolate, coffee and hominy. The mill was owned by the Fell’s from 1828 until 1878
when a fire destroyed the mill. The foundation and remnants of the mill race still exist on
the property. The site was typical of 18t and 19t century industrial sites with workers and
owners living nearby the mill. Those houses and properties are now part of the Fell National

Historic District.



This paper is intended to provide the history and significance of the site which is proposed

for a Delaware State historical marker.

The historical description of the site will show that this is a very important location for early
American and Delaware industrial activity where significant industrial progress and

efficiency marked a major advance in industrial productivity.

Early flour milling operations were labor intensive and resulted coarse product
contaminated with foreign material. One of the earliest mills in Mill Creek Hundred was
built in 1749 on Red Clay Creek near Brandywine Springs. In 1785, Oliver Evans an inventor
born in Newport, DE, bought this mill which operated in the traditional way with much
lifting, shoveling and carrying of product from one operation to another. Over the next two
years while operating the mill, Oliver Evans invented a hopper, a boy, an elevator, a
descender, a conveyor and a drill which revolutionized flour milling operations resulting in
a cleaner, more consistent high quality superfine flour using only two laborers. He patented
his mill design in Delaware and worked to get it patented elsewhere since there was no
national patent office at the time. A working model of his invention operates today at the
Hagley Museum. Local millers were slow to adopt his design and getting royalties from
those who did proved difficult. Life improved for Evans after the creation of a national
patent office in 1790. His design was the 3 patent issued by the US Patent office. Below is

an ad describing his mill design from 1797.






family. It was purchased by William Foulk in 1795. His son, John Foulk eventually came into
ownership of the mill until he sold it in 1828 to Jonathan Fell of Philadelphia. Faulkland

Road on which the mill site is located was named for the Foulk family.

Johnathan Fell converted the mill to a spice mill and he and various other members of his
family operated it from 1828 until a fire in 1867 destroyed the mill and its equipment. It
was rebuilt and operated until 1878 when another fire finally resulted in the closure of the
mill. During their ownership, the Fells milled and packed spices in bulk and in retail
containers including a variety of mustards, chocolate and cocoa, coffee, spices, seasonings,
and hominy. The mill at one time operated 9 sets of mill stones operated by two water
wheels. Steam power was also used for packing purposes. There was a kiln attached to the
mill and a drying apparatus dried corn and roasted coffee. The mill was the only one of its
kind in the State of Delaware and became the leading spice mill in the nation. The sales and
administrative offices of the C.J. Fell & Brother business were located at 64 5. Front St. in
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania. Products of the mill were shipped by packet boats from
Newport on the Christina River and later from the Fauikland depot of the Wilmington and
Western Railroad on the bank of Red Clay Creek opposite the mill. The Fell family
encouraged the creation and location of the railroad in order to benefit their business. That

railroad still exists today and operates as the Wilmington and Western Scenic Railway.

The Fell family built a mansion at the top of a hill above the mill and lived there for seven

generations. The estate was broken up and sold by the Fell family in 1942.









The Fell family and workers lived in houses surrounding the mill which still exist today
(2015) and have been designated as the Fell Historic District on the National Register of
Historic Places as of 1984 including 8 buildings which are all currently privately owned and
occupied. The former Fell family mansion is located at the top of the hill behind and to the

right of the mill site and still exists there today at the end of a private lane.

Three generations of my family, Leonard Woodward, George Woodward and James
Woodward, who was born in Fell's Lane, lived on site and managed and operated the mill
from 1832 until the 1860s when the first fire destroyed the mill in 1867. Leonard
Woodward, who managed the spice mill for many years, and his wife Elizabeth lived in the
left or western half of the house which can be seen to the right and behind the mill. They
lived in that house from 1832. Elizabeth continued to live in the house for a period of time
after Leonard’s death at the behest of the Fell family. That house exists today as a single
family residence with the address of 3003 Faulkland Road (see below as the house looks
today). Leonard died in 1862 and George went off to serve in the Civil War in 1861. James
was 4 years old when his father George left to serve in the Union Army (Company B, 1st
Regiment, Delaware Infantry} during the Civil War and apparently stayed with his Mother
and siblings on site in another home for a period of time. All three generations of

Woodwards are buried at 5t. James Church in Stanton, Delaware.

Thomas Brackin, of the well-known family from the Hockessin area, also worked at the
spice mill and may have become manager after Leonard Woodward’s death. Business

papers of the Fell’s Spice Mill can be found in the Hagley Library in Wilmington.
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